

Emissions Associated with Electric Vehicle Charging: Impact of Electricity Generation Mix, Charging Infrastructure Availability, and Vehicle Type

Joyce McLaren, John Miller, Eric O'Shaughnessy, Eric Wood, and Evan Shapiro *National Renewable Energy Laboratory*

NREL is a national laboratory of the U.S. Department of Energy Office of Energy Efficiency & Renewable Energy Operated by the Alliance for Sustainable Energy, LLC

This report is available at no cost from the National Renewable Energy Laboratory (NREL) at www.nrel.gov/publications.

Technical Report NREL/TP-6A20-64852 April 2016

Contract No. DE-AC36-08GO28308



Emissions Associated with Electric Vehicle Charging: Impact of Electricity Generation Mix, Charging Infrastructure Availability, and Vehicle Type

Joyce McLaren, John Miller, Eric O'Shaughnessy, Eric Wood, and Evan Shapiro *National Renewable Energy Laboratory*

Prepared under Task No. VTP2.0100

NREL is a national laboratory of the U.S. Department of Energy Office of Energy Efficiency & Renewable Energy Operated by the Alliance for Sustainable Energy, LLC

This report is available at no cost from the National Renewable Energy Laboratory (NREL) at www.nrel.gov/publications.

National Renewable Energy Laboratory 15013 Denver West Parkway Golden, CO 80401 303-275-3000 • www.nrel.gov **Technical Report** NREL/TP-6A20-64852 April 2016

Contract No. DE-AC36-08GO28308

NOTICE

This report was prepared as an account of work sponsored by an agency of the United States government. Neither the United States government nor any agency thereof, nor any of their employees, makes any warranty, express or implied, or assumes any legal liability or responsibility for the accuracy, completeness, or usefulness of any information, apparatus, product, or process disclosed, or represents that its use would not infringe privately owned rights. Reference herein to any specific commercial product, process, or service by trade name, trademark, manufacturer, or otherwise does not necessarily constitute or imply its endorsement, recommendation, or favoring by the United States government or any agency thereof. The views and opinions of authors expressed herein do not necessarily state or reflect those of the United States government or any agency thereof.

This report is available at no cost from the National Renewable Energy Laboratory (NREL) at www.nrel.gov/publications.

Available electronically at SciTech Connect http://www.osti.gov/scitech

Available for a processing fee to U.S. Department of Energy and its contractors, in paper, from:

U.S. Department of Energy Office of Scientific and Technical Information P.O. Box 62 Oak Ridge, TN 37831-0062 OSTI <u>http://www.osti.gov</u> Phone: 865.576.8401 Fax: 865.576.5728 Email: <u>reports@osti.gov</u>

Available for sale to the public, in paper, from:

U.S. Department of Commerce National Technical Information Service 5301 Shawnee Road Alexandria, VA 22312 NTIS <u>http://www.ntis.gov</u> Phone: 800.553.6847 or 703.605.6000 Fax: 703.605.6900 Email: <u>orders@ntis.gov</u>

Cover Photos by Dennis Schroeder: (left to right) NREL 26173, NREL 18302, NREL 19758, NREL 29642, NREL 19795.

Acknowledgments

This work was funded by the Department of Energy's Vehicle Technologies Program as part of the Workplace Charging Challenge initiative. The authors would like to thank the following individuals for their valuable contributions and reviews: Wendy Dafoe, David Hurlbut, Caley Johnson, Venkat Krishnan, Trieu Mai, Marc Melaina, Margo Melendez, Chris Nelder, Jeremey Newbauer, Joshua Novacheck, Matthew O'Connell, Emerson Reiter, and Jake Ward. The authors are solely responsible for any omissions or errors contained herein.

This report is available at no cost from the National Renewable Energy Laboratory (NREL) at www.nrel.gov/publications.

Abstract

With the aim of reducing greenhouse gas emissions associated with the transportation sector, policymakers are supporting a multitude of measures to increase electric vehicle adoption. The actual amount of emissions reduction electric vehicles provide is dependent on when and where drivers charge the vehicles. This analysis contributes to our understanding of the degree to which a particular electricity grid profile, the vehicle type, and charging patterns impact CO_2 emissions from light-duty, plug-in electric vehicles. We present an analysis of anticipated emissions resulting from both battery electric and plug-in hybrid electric vehicles for four charging scenarios and five electricity grid profiles. A scenario that allows drivers to charge electric vehicles at the workplace yields the lowest level of emissions for the majority of electricity grid profiles. However, vehicle emissions are shown to be highly dependent on the percentage of fossil fuels in the grid mix, with different vehicle types and charging scenarios resulting in fewer emissions when the carbon intensity of the grid is above a defined level. Restricting charging to off-peak hours results in higher total emissions for all vehicle types, as compared to other charging scenarios.

Table of Contents

Introduction and Background	1
Methodology	3
Electricity Grid Profiles	
Calculating Electrical Load from EV Charging	4
Calculating Emissions Associated with the Scenarios	6
Electricity Load Profiles Associated with EV Charging	8
Analysis of Emissions Associated with Miles Driven on Electricity	10
Emissions Associated with Non-Electricity Miles	16
Total Emissions Results: Emissions from Electric + Non-Electric Miles	16
Sensitivity Analysis	20
Conclusions	24
References	26

Introduction and Background

With the aim of reducing greenhouse gas emissions associated with the transportation sector, decision makers at the national, state, and local levels are supporting a multitude of policy measures to increase adoption of light-duty electric vehicles (DOE 2015; DeShazo 2015; ICCT 2015; Zhou 2015). The actual emission-reduction benefits associated with plug-in electric vehicles (PEVs) in a specific location are dependent on multiple factors, such as the electricity generation fuel mix, the time of day charging, and the vehicle type. Using a wide variety of methodologies and assumptions, numerous studies have investigated the impact of these different factors on emissions (Hacker 2007; Parks 2007; Anaire 2012; Kelly 2012; RAP/ICCT 2013; Nunes 2014; Tulpule 2014; Nealer 2015; Wood 2015; Jochem 2016).

A 2012 Union of Concerned Scientists (UCS) study concludes that emissions from electric vehicles are less than those of an average conventional vehicle, regardless of mix of fuels used to generate the electricity on which they are charged (Anair 2012). While the authors of the study acknowledge the impact of location and time of day that charging occurs, they do not specifically calculate PEV emissions for different grid mixes, stating:

Because the hourly variations in emissions intensity are not consistent across regions, times of day, or seasons, it is not practical to develop general consumer guidelines on when the lowest emissions intensity will occur throughout the day. For now, we recommend that EV consumers use their regional grid emissions, averaged over the course of the year, as a guide to estimating their personal EV global warming emissions.

Several studies have quantified the importance of location and time of day when estimating PEV emissions. Tulpule (2013) concludes that day charging with solar-powered charging stations in Ohio could realize CO_2 emissions reductions of up to 90% versus home charging during evening hours. Jochem et al. (2015) finds that total life-cycle external costs of PEVs are highly dependent on the electricity mix and the charging strategy employed.

While a commonly used methodology bases emissions estimates on the annual average electricity generation mix (Hacker 2007), an alternative approach bases calculations on the electricity fuel source that is on the margin (meaning the electricity load that PEVs add to the existing load).¹ Holland et al. (2015) take this approach, finding significant variation in the marginal emissions associated with PEVs in different locations, thus reinforcing the notion that electricity grid mix has a notable impact on emissions. The authors also point out the potential for the transfer of the emissions benefits of EVs from one location to another, as a result of regional electricity imports and exports. Parks et al. (2007) and Denholm et al. (2013) also use the marginal emission methodology. Both studies conclude that the availability of daytime charging increases the percentage of miles that plug-in hybrid electric vehicles (PHEVs) drive on electricity and results in greater petroleum displacement.

¹ As pointed out in the Union of Concerned Scientists study, these calculations based on the marginal fuel source provide insight into the impact of large-scale PEV deployment on electricity grids, but basing calculations on the average electricity generation mix may be more suitable to inform policy and consumer decision-making.

The analysis described in this paper investigates the emissions impacts by time of day and charging scenario for five different electricity grid mixes and multiple vehicle types. We investigate both PHEVs and BEVs that are charged using either slow (level 1) or fast (level 2) charging equipment at varying times of day. The electricity grids on which the vehicles are charged differ in their carbon intensities. Each grid is characterized by an hourly generation profile for an entire week. Seasonal variations are not captured because the profiles represent the average fuel mix over the course of a year.²

A strength of our methodological approach is the consideration of not only the emissions associated with charging electric vehicles on a particular electricity grid, but also the emissions associated with the non-electric miles driven. This includes the miles that PHEVs drive in gasoline mode, and those trips that battery electric vehicle (BEV) drivers are required to make in a conventional vehicle (CV). As such, we are able to provide a more complete representation of total emissions associated with PEV-owner travel. Including CV emissions enables this analysis to capture the more nuanced story of PEV use.



Figure 1. Descriptions and symbols for vehicles studied

² The vehicles modeled represent efficiencies anticipated for 2025.

Methodology Electricity Grid Profiles

For this study, we modeled five different electricity grids with a variety of fuel mixes. The grids broadly represent regions across the United States and their different levels of carbon intensity. The profiles were generated using the production cost model PLEXOS (Energy Exemplar 2015), which simulates the least-cost dispatch of the electric power system, taking into account hourly variations in demand and numerous operational constraints. PLEXOS models electricity dispatch from generating units at intervals as short as five minutes. This analysis simulated hourly dispatch intervals for an entire year, for each of five grids. These results were aggregated to produce annual average hourly profiles (shown in Figure 1). The main analysis is based on a 'standard scenario,' which assumes moderate renewable energy build-out and accounts for currently planned closures of coal facilities and anticipated growth in natural gas generation (Brinkman 2015; Bloom et al. 2016). In addition, a sensitivity analysis (presented in a later section) was conducted for cases with high and low percentages of renewable energy.

Figure 2 shows the five grid profiles used in the main analysis, which represent a broad spectrum of low to high carbon intense grids. Although the example of the low carbon grid is composed largely of renewable energy, a grid with nuclear, hydropower, or other emissions-free generation sources would yield similar results.



Figure 2. Modeled grid profiles representing varying levels of carbon intensity

Source: Brinkman (2015)

Calculating Electrical Load from EV Charging

We calculated the hourly electrical load profiles associated with EV charging for 28 different scenarios (7 vehicle types and 4 charging scenarios). NREL's Battery Lifetime Analysis and Simulation Tool for Vehicles (BLAST-V) model was used to generate the hourly electrical loads over an entire week for each scenario (NREL 2015a). BLAST-V incorporates data on behavioral driving tendencies of EV drivers based on actual observations into its simulations to determine scenario-specific hourly vehicle load demand (NREL 2015b). Publicly available data from the California Department of Transportation 2010-2012 Household Travel Study was used to characterize travel (NREL 2015b; Nutstats Research Solutions 2013). Inputs to the BLAST-V model included the vehicle type, the types and locations of charging infrastructure available to drivers, and the set of trips requested by the drivers. The vehicle type and charging infrastructure available to the driver was varied in each BLAST-V run, while the set of trips requested by drivers remained constant. Outputs of each BLAST-V run included the number of electric miles, the number of non-electric miles, and the kilowatt-hours needed for charging for each hour of the week. Non-electric miles are those that PHEVs drive in gasoline mode, and those trips that BEV drivers are required to make in a conventional vehicle.

Figure 3 depicts the seven vehicle types modeled, which include both PHEVs and BEVs. The figure also indicates the range the vehicles are assumed to be capable of traveling on a full charge under the standard U.S. Environmental Protection Agency's urban dynamometer driving schedule (unadjusted estimates). The vehicle range was adjusted in BLAST-V by approximately 30% to account for real-world effects including speed, acceleration rate, ambient temperature, and cabin heating and cooling (EPA 2006). Given the amount of data gathered from the multiple runs and the similarity of many of the conclusions across vehicle ranges, we present the detailed results for only the BEV200 and the PHEV30 in some cases.



Figure 3. Vehicle types and ranges modeled

The four charging scenarios simulated represent a variety of situations, with three home-only charging scenarios and one home-plus-workplace charging scenario.³ In the home charging

³ Public charging stations were not made available to the vehicles during BLAST-V simulation.

scenarios, drivers were either allowed charge their vehicle whenever they were home (also known as opportunity charging) with a Level 1 or Level 2 charger,⁴ or were restricted to charging between midnight and 1 p.m. with a Level 2 charger. This 'time-restricted' charging scenario represents the incentives that utilities are increasingly offering EV owners to charge during off-peak hours.⁵ Table 1 summarizes the five different charging scenarios modeled for each vehicle type in this study.

Note that smart charging is not included in any of the charging scenarios. While research has shown that charging infrastructure that incorporates advanced controls can be a potentially important mechanism to manage load from PEV charging to reduce system impacts and emissions (Garcia-Villalobos 2014), uncontrolled charging is likely to remain the standard for some time.

Scenario Name	Where can you charge?	When can you charge?	Charging Technology/Speed
Home L1	Only at home	Anytime	Level 1
Home L2	Only at home	Anytime	Level 2
Time Restricted	Only at home	Midnight-1 p.m. only	Level 2
Workplace	At Home & work	Anytime	Level 2

Table 1. Charging Scenarios Modeled

As mentioned above, the BLAST-V model calculates the number of electric miles and nonelectric miles driven for each scenario. The same trips are taken in every scenario, and thus the same numbers of miles are driven. However, because of the technical differences in the vehicles, the method BLAST-V uses to determine the ratio of electric to non-electric miles differs for the BEV and PHEVs.

For the BEV scenarios, when a journey is requested, a BEV owner must choose whether to drive their BEV or a CV. The BLAST-V model assumes that owners choose to drive their BEV if the trip is comfortably within the vehicle's range at its current state of charge. If the current state of charge is insufficient to make the trip, the owner drives a CV. The same number and length of trips are taken for every scenario; it is assumed that drivers do not forego a trip simply because they cannot make it using their BEV.

⁴ Level 1 chargers are standard for all vehicles and do not require any specialized equipment. They use 120 volt, alternating current and a standard household plug, however a dedicated circuit is necessary. Level 2 chargers supply 240 volt, alternating current. They require the installation of specialized charging equipment and a dedicated 40 amp circuit. Level 2 chargers typically take about half of the time of a Level 1 charger to fully charge a depleted battery. ⁵ The Alternative Fuels Data Center database lists at least 18 utilities that have special time-of-use rates for owners of electric vehicles (<u>http://www.afdc.energy.gov/fuels/laws/ELEC</u>). One study found that EV owners with time-of-use pricing generally began charging their vehicles around midnight, when lower rates are available (Ecotality and Idaho National Laboratory 2013).

For the PHEV scenarios, the PHEV operates in electric mode until the vehicle exceeds the battery's range at its current state of charge, at which time it switches to gasoline mode, which results in non-electric miles.

Calculating Emissions Associated with the Scenarios

The level of emissions associated with each charging scenario is based on the carbon intensity of the electricity grid at the specific time of day the vehicles are charged, the emissions associated with burning gasoline, the ratio of electric-to-gasoline miles driven, and the efficiencies of the vehicles.

To calculate emissions for electric miles driven, each electricity generation fuel source was assigned an emission factor (lbs CO_2/kWh) (see Figure 4) and the methodology employed by Brinkman (2015). There are two emissions factors for natural gas; one represents the more efficient heat rate of combined cycle plants. These emissions factors were applied to the electricity mixes for each of the five grid profiles studied to arrive at the hourly carbon intensity for each profile.



Figure 4. Emissions factors of fuel sources

Source: Brinkman (2015)

*Natural gas emission factor is the average of combustion turbine and combined cycle emission factors.

The emissions associated with the non-electric miles are a function of the vehicle efficiency, which differs between BEVs and PHEVs. For the PHEV scenarios, the emissions associated with the non-electric miles are assumed to be 0.29 lb CO₂/mile (based on the 66.8 mpg efficiency anticipated for 2025).⁶ The emissions associated with the miles driven in the conventional vehicle are assumed to be 0.48 lb CO₂/mile (based on a 40.8 mpg efficiency anticipated for 2025).⁷ Figure 5 illustrates the methodologies used to calculate emissions from both the BEV and PHEV scenarios.

⁶ Modeling is based on a 2025 vehicle efficiency rating of 66.8 mpg (the anticipated PHEV vehicle fuel economy according to the U.S. Department of Energy [DOE] and the Government Performance and Results Act [GPRA]) and an emissions factor of 8.91 kg (19.64 lb) CO₂/gallon gasoline (EIA 2013).

⁷ Modeling is based on a 2025 vehicle efficiency of 40.8 mpg (the anticipated conventional vehicle fuel economy according to DOE/GPRA) and an emissions factor of 8.91 kg (19.64 lb) CO₂/gallon gasoline (EIA 2013). Current year vehicles that are still on the road in 2025 were not modeled.

Calculating Emissions from BEV Travel



emissions from CS and CD modes.



Figure 6 shows the distribution of electric miles and non-electric miles, by vehicle type and charging scenario, as calculated by the BLAST-V model. It indicates that BEV scenarios generally result in more miles driven on electricity than the PHEV scenarios. We also see that the Home L2 and Workplace scenarios result in the greatest number of miles driven on electricity, and the lowest mileage driven on gasoline. This is true for every vehicle model. The faster charging afforded by the Level 2 chargers and the greater frequency of charging afforded by the availability of workplace charging allow BEV owners to charge more over the course of a typical day and drive their BEV for more electric miles. Likewise, more charging afforded by fast home charging and workplace charging allows PHEV drivers to operate their vehicle in electric mode for a higher proportion of their total mileage.



Figure 6. Distribution of electric versus non-electric miles traveled, by vehicle type and charging scenario

Note: Non-electric miles for BEVs result from the use of a conventional vehicle to make trips that would not be possible in the BEV due to the state-of-charge at the time the trip was requested. The non-electric miles for the PHEVs result from the use of the PHEV in gasoline mode (also known as charge-sustaining mode). Because of the difference in efficiency of the CV and the PHEV, the emissions associated with a BEV non-electric mile are higher than the emissions of the PHEV non-electric mile.

Electricity Load Profiles Associated with EV Charging

Figures 7 and 8 show the annual average load profiles for the four charging scenarios modeled, for the BEV200 and the PHEV30. The load shapes were not significantly different for the other vehicle ranges. In addition, there is little difference between the load shapes of the BEVs as compared to PHEVs. The main difference is the higher overall load of the BEV.

Three of the charging scenarios show a clear peak during the evening hours. However, note that the load shape for the time-restricted scenario clearly indicates the lack of charging between 1pm and midnight. Load is very high (6,200 kilowatts) at midnight (when charging is initially allowed) and drops sharply as vehicles become fully charged. The load ramps up again in the morning before dropping to zero at 1 p.m. (when charging restrictions begin).



Figure 7. BEV load profile by scenario

Note: The scale in the figure is capped at 1,500 kW for presentation purposes (the time restricted scenario peaks at 6,200 kW at 12 a.m.).





Note: The scale is capped at 1,500 kW for presentation purposes (the time restricted scenario peaks at 5,700 kW at 12 a.m.).

Analysis of Emissions Associated with Miles Driven on Electricity

The following analysis figures (Figures 9–13) provide detailed results for the five generation profiles and four charging scenarios studied. The layout of the figures elucidates the relationships between the multiple variables of interest and allows us to compare of the hourly generation profile and CO_2 intensity of the grid with the hourly load and cumulative grid-based CO_2 emissions for each charging scenario. Note that Figures 9–13 only include the emissions resulting from the miles driven on electricity. They do *not* include emissions resulting from non-electric miles; these are presented separately in subsequent sections.

On a low-carbon grid (Figure 9), CO_2 intensity spikes during the evening 'peak hours' between 6 p.m. and midnight. This spike results in higher grid-based emissions for charging scenarios that have high loads in the evening hours (e.g., Home L2 and Workplace charging). However, the emissions from electricity miles are low in all charging scenarios, because of the minimal use of carbon-based fuels. On low-carbon grids, conventional vehicle miles have a significantly higher carbon intensity than electric miles, favoring the charging scenarios that allow for more miles driven on electricity (i.e., Workplace charging).





Note: Figure based on BEV emissions.

The medium-low carbon grid (Figure 10) has a relatively steady CO_2 intensity throughout the 24-hour period. Because of this, the load shapes for the different charging scenarios have little impact on total emissions. The difference in total emissions between the scenarios in this case, is dependent more on the ratio between electric and non-electric miles. Workplace charging results in higher grid emissions because it allows for more miles driven on electricity, but when emissions from non-electric miles are considered, the scenario results in fewer total emissions than the others (see Figure 15).



Figure 10. Analysis figure for med-low carbon grid Note: Figure based on BEV emissions.

The medium carbon grid (Figure 11) has an obvious dip in carbon intensity during the mid-day hours, favoring charging scenarios that have a higher percentage of load between mid-morning and mid-afternoon. Home L1 and Workplace charging scenarios result in the lowest grid emissions in this scenario, followed closely by Home L2. Time restricted charging results in the highest grid emissions, since the majority of the load occurs between midnight and 6 a.m., when carbon intensity is high.



Figure 11. Analysis figure for medium carbon grid Note: Figure based on BEV emissions.

The medium-high carbon grid (Figure 12), like the medium-low, has a fairly uniform carbon intensity throughout the day, making the load profile less significant in distinguishing between charging scenarios. Therefore, the total load, based on the total miles driven on electricity for each scenario, is responsible for the differences between emissions for the scenarios. Workplace charging has the highest grid emissions because of the higher number of miles that are driven on electricity.



Figure 12. Analysis figure for medium-high carbon grid Note: Figure based on BEV emissions.

On the high carbon grid (Figure 13), the Home L1 and L2 charging scenarios result in the lowest grid emissions. Workplace charging results in the most grid emissions, with the higher proportion of electric miles afforded by workplace charging not acting as an advantage, in this case.





Emissions Associated with Non-Electricity Miles

Figure 14 shows the emissions associated *only* with non-electric miles for the different charging scenarios. These are the emissions from driving the PHEV in gasoline mode and driving a conventional vehicle for trips unable to be made in a BEV. The results are similar for vehicles with different ranges, so we present only one set here.

Not surprisingly, the PHEV has more emissions from miles driven on gasoline because the PHEV drives more non-electric miles. For all scenarios, these emissions must be added to those associated with vehicle charging in order to gain a complete understanding of the total emissions for each vehicle type and charging scenario.



Figure 14. Emissions from non-electric miles for a BEV200 and a PHEV30

Total Emissions Results: Emissions from Electric + Non-Electric Miles

In this section, we show the total emissions associated with each charging scenario and vehicle. The total includes emissions from electric miles and non-electric miles. As this section demonstrates, once the emissions from the electric and non-electric miles are added together, lower emissions from electric miles in one scenario can be offset by higher emissions from nonelectric miles, or vice-versa. This signals the importance of considering emissions from both electric and non-electric miles for each scenario.

Figure 15 shows the total emissions of a BEV200 for three electricity grids with low, medium, and high carbon intensities.⁸ Figure 15 provides another visualization of the results for all grid intensities and all charging scenarios for all BEVs and PHEVs simulated.

⁸ The results indicate that the relative emission levels for the different charging scenarios were similar for a PHEV.

Compared to other scenarios, the Workplace charging scenario results in relatively high emissions from electric miles on most grids. However, workplace charging results in relatively low emissions from non-electric miles. Low emissions from non-electric miles offset high emissions from electric miles such that workplace charging results in the least total emissions on all but high carbon grids.

These results suggest that emissions from non-electric miles may play a significant role in determining total emissions and provide further support for the potential importance of considering both electric and non-electric miles.



Figure 15. Total emissions for a BEV200 for all charging scenarios; three electricity grids



Figure 16. Total emissions per vehicle day by region, vehicle type, and scenario

Next, we compare the total emissions from BEVs and PHEVs to those generated when a CV (alone) is used to take the same set of trips. For a low carbon grid, BEVs and PHEVs each result in about one-third of the total emissions of a conventional vehicle (Figure 17). This result accounts for emissions from journeys that BEV owners must take in CVs. For a high carbon grid, BEVs and PHEVs result in slightly lower emissions than a CV (Figure 18).

Note that emissions savings are greater for PHEVs than BEVs when the grid CO_2 intensity is high. Although seemingly counterintuitive, this is easily explained by the relative efficiencies of the vehicles. BEVs result in more electric miles overall than the PHEVs, but the efficiency of the conventional vehicle that is used by BEV owners when they are unable to use their electric vehicle is only 40.8 m/gallon. This is compared to a PHEV efficiency of 66.8 mpg in gasoline mode. The carbon intensity of the BEV non-electric miles is 0.48 lb CO_2 /mile, while the carbon intensity of the PHEV non-electric miles is 0.29 lb CO_2 /mile.



Figure 17. Comparison of total BEV and PHEV emissions with emissions from a conventional vehicle on a low carbon grid.



Figure 18. Comparison of total BEV and PHEV emissions with emissions from a conventional vehicle on a high carbon grid

Sensitivity Analysis

Next, we examine the sensitivity of the results to electricity grids with higher and lower carbon intensities by replacing a percentage of the generation fuel mixes with either more or less natural gas or coal. This allows for exploration of the impact of higher or lower levels of renewable energy deployment (or an increased use of nuclear power) than assumed for the main analysis. Table 2 shows the adjustments made to the original electricity grid profiles for the sensitivity analysis.

Grid Scenario	High Renewables Sensitivity Adjustment	Low Renewables Sensitivity Adjustment
Low Carbon	N/A	+20% gas
Med-Low Carbon	-20% gas	+20% gas
Medium Carbon	-20% gas	+20% gas
Medium-High Carbon	-10% coal; -10% gas	+6% coal; +6%gas
High Carbon	-10% coal; -10% gas	N/A

Table 2. Sensitivity Adjustments to Electricity Grid Fuel Mixes

The sensitivity analysis supports two findings, which hold for both BEVs and PHEVs. First, it further supports the initial conclusion that workplace charging generally results in the lowest emissions, with the exception of grids with very high carbon intensities.

Second, the sensitivity analysis suggests that the Workplace charging scenario is the most sensitive to changes in renewable/zero-emission fuel penetration. There is an average difference of a 30% in emissions for the Workplace charging scenario between the high renewables and low renewables cases. This is compared to average difference of 27%–29% for the other three charging scenarios.

Figure 19 presents the results of the sensitivity analysis for the Workplace and Home L1 charging scenarios, which are the most elucidating.



Figure 19. Sensitivity of BEV emissions to higher and lower carbon intensities; Home L1 and Workplace charging scenarios

Next we examine the sensitivity of the emissions from the Workplace and Home L1 charging scenarios to individual electricity generation fuel types. Figure 20 shows the rise in emissions for these two charging scenarios as the electricity grid mix changes from zero-emission to 100% natural gas (on the left) or 100% coal (on the right).

The Workplace charging scenario results in lower emissions than Home L1 until a 92% natural gas penetration, or 55% coal penetration, is reached. This suggests that the electricity generation profile can vary substantially before the emissions associated with the Workplace charging scenario are higher than for the other scenarios.

This result also suggests that regions with grids that have higher carbon intensities (e.g., more coal dependence) may not realize significant emissions reductions by switching from home charging to workplace charging. This is because the emissions reduction benefits of workplace charging diminish as the CO_2 intensity of the grid increases. These regions may experience greater emissions reductions associated with electric vehicles by focusing on reducing the carbon intensity of the electricity grid.



Figure 20. Comparison of Home L1 and workplace emissions in different fossil fuel scenarios

Note: Based on BEV200

Figure 21 plots the percentage difference in emissions between the Workplace scenario and Home L1 scenario as a function of grid carbon intensity. Figure 21 demonstrates that the potential emissions reduction from encouraging workplace charging is a function of the carbon intensity of the grid. Overall, emissions reductions are greatest for low carbon grids and diminish as carbon intensity increases. Emissions reductions are greatest in regions with grids that have more zero-carbon fuel sources, decline as grids rely more on natural gas, and approach zero as grids use more coal. On coal-heavy grids, Workplace charging emissions exceed Home L1 emissions.

Based on the assumptions used in this analysis, the wide-spread use of workplace charging could be expected to reduce emissions on grids with an average carbon intensity of less than 1.5 lb CO_2/kWh .



Figure 21. Percentage difference in emissions between Home L1 and workplace charging scenarios as a function of grid CO₂ intensity

Conclusions

This study analyzes the emissions associated with electric vehicles, with consideration to the vehicle type, the carbon intensity of the grid, and the charging infrastructures and patterns employed. It uses a novel methodology that allows us to consider not only the emissions resulting from charging the PEVs, but also the emissions associated with the miles driven on gasoline. The emissions are calculated for a defined set of trips taken by multiple vehicle types, using anticipated 2025 vehicle efficiencies.

Our analysis suggests the following conclusions:

- The carbon intensity of the electricity grid has a greater impact on the total emissions associated with electric vehicles than does the charging scenario. However, differences in emissions between charging scenarios are detectable, with advantages of each differing somewhat according to the carbon intensity of the grid.
- Notably, PHEVs yield lower total emissions than BEVs in four of the five grid types. The low-carbon grid is the only case in which BEVs have lower total emissions. This is due to our inclusion of non-electric miles in the calculation of total emissions. PHEVs have a higher mile-per-gallon efficiency and their non-electric miles have a lower carbon intensity than BEV non-electric miles (which are driven in a conventional vehicle).
- Workplace charging results in the greatest percentage of electric miles for both BEVs and PHEVs and consistently results in lower total emissions across all charging scenarios, with exceptions only for high carbon grids.⁹
- The emissions benefits of workplace charging increase as the carbon intensity of the grid is reduced. Sensitivity analysis indicates that the Workplace charging scenario continues to result in the least emissions, even when the carbon intensity of the grid varies substantially. However, the larger number of electric miles afforded by workplace charging can result in higher total emissions than other charging scenarios on high carbon grids.
- Of the charging scenarios studied, time-restricted charging results in the lowest number of electric miles and the highest level of emissions for most grids and vehicle types.
- Looking across all of the vehicle types, charging scenarios and grids studied, a BEV using time-restricted charging on a high carbon grid results in the highest level of emissions.
- A BEV using workplace charging on a low carbon grid provides the greatest emissions reductions as compared to driving a conventional vehicle.

⁹ Our results support the conclusion of Parks et al. (2007) and Denholm et al. (2013) that the availability of daytime charging increases the percentage of miles that PHEVs drive on electricity, resulting in greater petroleum displacement.

Resulting policy and technology considerations include:

- Changes in carbon intensity of the grid impact the emissions associated with workplace charging. This supports the notion that encouraging increased renewable energy in combination with increased workplace charging can have a significant impact on emission reductions associated with electric vehicle deployment.
- Based on the assumptions used in this analysis, the wide-spread use of workplace charging could be expected to reduce emissions associated with electric vehicles on grids with an average carbon intensity of less than 1.5 lb CO₂/kWh.
- Regions with carbon-intense electrical grids will realize little (or even negative) benefit by switching from home charging to workplace charging. Policies to reduce grid carbon intensity may provide greater value than policies to promote workplace charging.
- Restricting charging to off-peak hours results in higher total emissions associated with PEVs. This is, in part, a consequence of the reduced number of trips that PEV drivers can comfortably make when charging is restricted to off-peak hours. This result suggests that existing policies and utility rate structures that encourage off-peak charging may lead to higher emissions associated with PEVs than policies that support daytime charging. Altering the times that charging restrictions or special PEV charging rates are in place to increase flexibility may reduce the negative impacts of time-restricted charging on emissions. More analysis of the impacts of time-restricted charging on specific electric grids could help to both reduce the grid impacts associated with increased levels of PEV charging as well as maximize emissions reductions.

References

- Anair, Don, and Amine Mahmassani. 2012. State of Charge: Electric Vehicles' Global Warming Emissions and Fuel-Cost Savings across the United States. Cambridge, MA: Union of Concerned Scientists. <u>http://www.ucsusa.org/sites/default/files/legacy/assets/documents/clean_vehicles/electriccar-global-warming-emissions-report.pdf.</u>
- Bloom, Aaron, Aaron Townsend, David Palchak, Josh Novacheck, Jack King, Matthew O'Connell, Eduardo Ibanez, Gary Jordan, Clayton Barrows, Marissa Hummon, and Caroline Draxl. 2016. *Eastern Renewable Generation Integration Study*. Forthcoming.
- Brinkman, Gregory, Jennie Jorgensen, Ali Ehlen, and James H. Caldwell. 2015. Low Carbon Grid Study: Analysis of a 50% Emission Reduction in California. NREL/TP-6A20-64884. Golden, CO: National Renewable Energy Laboratory. <u>http://www.nrel.gov/docs/fy16osti/64884.pdf</u>.
- Denhom, Paul, Michael Kuss, and Robert Margolis. 2013. "Co-benefits of large scale plug-in hybrid electric vehicle and solar PV deployment." *Journal of Power Sources* 236:350– 356. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jpowsour.2012.10.007</u>.
- DeShazo, J. R., C. C. Song, Michael Sin, and Thomas Gariffo. 2015. *State of the States' Plug-in Electric Vehicle Policies*. Los Angeles: University of California Los Angeles Luskin Center for Innovation. http://innovation.luskin.ucla.edu/sites/default/files/EV_State_Policy.pdf.
- DOE (U.S. Department of Energy). 2015. "Alternative Fuels Data Center, Electricity Laws and Incentives." Accessed December 10. <u>http://www.afdc.energy.gov/fuels/laws/ELEC</u>.
- Ecotality and Idaho National Laboratory. 2013. "How do PEV owners respond to time-of-use rates while charging EV Project vehicles?" San Francisco: Electric Transportation Engineering Corporation. <u>http://avt.inl.gov/pdf/EVProj/125348-714937.pev-driver.pdf</u>.
- EIA (U.S. Energy Information Administration). 2015. "Average Tested Heat Rates by Prime Mover and Energy Source, 2007 - 2014." October 30. http://www.eia.gov/electricity/annual/html/epa 08 02.html.
- Energy Exemplar. 2015. "PLEXOS Integrated Energy Model version 6.400 R02 x64 Edition." Computer software. Accessed May 20, 2015. <u>http://energyexemplar.com/</u>.
- EPA (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency). 2014. "Greenhouse Gas Emissions from a Typical Passenger Vehicle." EPA-420-F-14-040a. Washington, D.C., Environmental Protection Agency. <u>https://www3.epa.gov/otaq/climate/documents/420f14040a.pdf</u>.
- 2006. "Final Technical Support Document Fuel Economy Labeling of Motor Vehicles: Revisions to Improve Calculation of Fuel Economy Estimates." EPA420-R-06-017. Washington, D.C.: Environmental Protection Agency. <u>https://www3.epa.gov/carlabel/documents/420r06017.pdf</u>.

- EPRI (Electric Power Research Institute). 2015. Environmental Assessment of a Full Electric Transportation Portfolio: Volumes 2: Greenhouse Gas Emissions. Report 3002006876. <u>http://www.epri.com/abstracts/Pages/ProductAbstract.aspx?productId=0000</u> 00003002006876.
- Garcia-Villalobos, J., I. Zamora, J. I. San Martin, F. J. Asensio, and V. Aperribay. 2014. "Plug-in electric vehicles in electric distribution networks: A review of smart charging approaches." *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews* 38:717– 731. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2014.07.040</u>.
- Hacker, Florian, Ralph Harthan, Felix Matthes, and Wiebke Zimmer. 2009. Environmental Impacts and Impact on the Electricity Market of a Large Scale Introduction of Electric Cars in Europe. Bilthoven, Netherlands: European Topic Centre on Air Pollution and Climate Change Mitigation. <u>http://acm.eionet.europa.eu/docs/ETCACC_TP_2009_4_electromobility.pdf</u>.
- Holland, Stephen, Erin Mansur, Nicholas Muller, and Andrew Yates. 2015. "Environmental Benefits from Driving Electric Vehicles?" Working Paper 21291. Cambridge, MA: National Bureau of Economic Research. http://www.nber.org/papers/w21291.pdf.
- Jochem P., C. Doll, and W. Fichtner. 2016. *External costs of electric vehicles*. Transportation Research Part D 42:60-76. <u>http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1361920915001467</u>.
- Kelly, Jarod C., Jason S. MacDonald, and Gregory A. Keoleian. 2012. "Time-dependent plug-in hybrid electric vehicle charging based on national driving patterns and demographics." *Applied Energy* 94:395–405. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2012.02.001</u>.
- Krupa, Joseph S., Donna M. Rizzo, Margaret J. Eppstein, D. Brad Lanute, Diann E. Gaalema, Kiran Lakkaraju, and Christina E. Warrender. 2014. "Analysis of a consumer survey on plug-in hybrid electric vehicles." *Transportation Research Part A: Policy and Practice* 64:14–31. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.tra.2014.02.019</u>.
- Moawak, A. N. Kim, N. Shidore, and A. Rousseau. 2016. Assessment of Vehicle Sizing, Energy Consumption and Cost through Large Scale Simulation of Advanced Vehicle Technologies. ANL-ESD-15-28. Argonne, IL: Argonne National Laboratory.
- Nealer, R., D Reichmuth, D. Anair. 2015. *Cleaner Cars from Cradle to Grave: How Electric Cars Beat Gasoline Cars on Lifetime Global Warming Emissions*. Union of Concerned Scientists. <u>www.ucsusa.org/EVlifecycle</u>.
- NREL (National Renewable Energy Laboratory). 2015a. "BLAST-V: Battery Lifetime Analysis and Simulation Tool Suite." <u>http://www.nrel.gov/transportation/energystorage/blast.html</u>.
 - ———. 2015b. "Transportation Secure Data Center (TSDC)." Accessed December. <u>http://www.nrel.gov/tsdc</u>.

- Nunes, P., Tiago Farias, and M. Brito. 2015. "Day charging electric vehicles with excess solar electricity for a sustainable energy system." *Energy* 80:263– 274. http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0360544214013243.
- Nustats Research Solutions. 2013. *California Department of Transportation 2010-2012 California Household Travel Survey. Final Report.* Prepared for the California Department of Transportation. Austin, Texas: Nustats Research Solutions. <u>https://www.nrel.gov/transportation/transportationdata/pdfs/calif_household_t</u> <u>ravel_survey.pdf</u>.
- Parks, K., P. Denholm, and T. Markel. 2007. Costs and Emissions Associated with Plug-In Hybrid Electric Vehicle Charging in the Xcel Energy Colorado Service Territory. NREL/TP-640-41410. Golden, CO: National Renewable Energy Laboratory. <u>http://www.nrel.gov/docs/fy07osti/41410.pdf</u>.
- Pearre, N., and L. Swan. 2015. "Electric vehicle charging to support renewable energy integration in a capacity constrained electricity grid." *Energy Conversion and Management* 109:130–139. <u>http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0196890415010869</u>.
- RAP/ICCT (Regulatory Assistance Project and the International Council on Clean Transportation). 2013. *Electric Vehicle Grid Integration in the U.S., Europe, and China: Challenges and Choices for Electricity and Transportation Policy*. Washington, D.C.: International Council on Clean Transportation. <u>http://www.theicct.org/sites/default/files/publications/EVpolicies_final_J</u> <u>uly11.pdf</u>.
- Tulpule, Pinak J., Vincenzo Marano, Stephen Yurkovich, and Giorgio Rizzoni. 2013. "Economic and Environmental Impacts of a PV Powered Workplace Parking Garage Charging Station." *Applied Energy* 108:323–32. doi:10.1016/j.apenergy.2013.02.068.
- Wood, E., Jeremy Neubauer, and E. Burton. 2015. Measuring the Benefits of Public Chargers and Improving Infrastructure Deployments Using Advanced Simulation Tools. Preprint. <u>NREL/ CP-5400-63422</u>. Golden, CO: National Renewable Energy Laboratory. <u>http://www.nrel.gov/docs/fy15osti/63422.pdf</u>.
- Zhou, Yan, Michael Wang, Han Hao, Larry Johnson, Hewu Wang, and Han Hao. 2015. "Plug-in electric vehicle market penetration and incentives: a global review." *Mitigation and Adaptation Strategies for Global Change* 20(5):777– 795. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s11027-014-9611-2.